IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1973

A simultaneous equation model to determine the rate of inflation

Mary Elizabeth Rieder *Iowa State University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the <u>Economics Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Rieder, Mary Elizabeth, "A simultaneous equation model to determine the rate of inflation " (1973). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 6168. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/6168

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digrep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

This dissertation was produced from a microfilm copy of the original document. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or patterns which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting thru an image and duplicating adjacent pages to insure you complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a large round black mark, it is an indication that the photographer suspected that the copy may have moved during exposure and thus cause a blurred image. You will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., was part of the material being photographed the photographer followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin photoing at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue photoing from left to right in equal sections with a small overlap. If necessary, sectioning is continued again beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. The majority of users indicate that the textual content is of greatest value, however, a somewhat higher quality reproduction could be made from "photographs" if essential to the understanding of the dissertation. Silver prints of "photographs" may be ordered at additional charge by writing the Order Department, giving the catalog number, title, author and specific pages you wish reproduced.

University Microfilms

300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106 A Xerox Education Company 73-16,975 RIEDER, Mary Elizabeth, 1942-A SIMULTANEOUS EQUATION MODEL TO DETERMINE THE RATE OF INFLATION. Iowa State University, Ph.D., 1973

Economics, general

arest the store of

University Microfilms, A XEROX Company , Ann Arbor, Michigan

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED.

A simultaneous equation model to determine the rate of inflation

by

Mary Elizabeth Rieder

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Economics

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

PLEASE NOTE:

٠

.

Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

University Microfilms, A Xerox Education Company

.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
DEDICAT	ION	iii
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	THE MODEL AND THE ESTIMATION OF THE STRUCTURAL EQUATIONS	8
	A. The Model	8
	B. The Price Equation	12
	C. The Demand Sector	13
	D. The Supply Sector	17
	 The production function The employment function The wage function 	17 20 30
	E. The Complete Model	41
III.	THE DERIVED REDUCED FORM OF THE MODEL, ITS RELIABILITY, AND THE POLICY IMPLICATIONS	44
	A. The Derived Reduced Form of the Model	44
	B. The Reliability of the Model	50
	C. The Policy Implications from the Reduced Form	52
IV.	SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	63
v.	BIBLIOGRAPHY	66
VI.	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	77
VII.	APPENDIX A	78
VIII.	APPENDIX B	80
IX.	APPENDIX C	81
х.	APPENDIX D	84

DEDICATION

.

.

To "Chris"

Who took the time and had the patience to make me an economist

· •·· •

I. INTRODUCTION

In contrast with earlier periods in the development of economic theory, the basic problem now facing economists is not one of insufficient aggregate demand and unemployment, but inflation. Inflation is generally considered to be a problem associated with full employment and excess aggregate demand, rather than with unemployment and insufficient aggregate demand.

Inflation is also essentially a monetary rather than a real phenomenon. The Classical economists clearly realized this. Postulating the exchange identity, MV = PY, where M is the money supply, V is income velocity, P is the price level, and Y is the level of real output, they argued if the economy is at full employment and V is constant, prices would rise in proportion to increases in the money supply. Even if Y and V are not held constant, but are allowed to vary within reasonable limits consistent with the concept of full employment and the institutional framework of the economy, the relationship between the money supply and the price level, while no longer proportional, is still very strong.

It would seem that the money supply would be the key variable in determining the price level in macroeconometric models. However, in the major quarterly econometric models

of the United States, this is not the case. David Fand (40) points out that the price level in many of these current econometric models depends on such variables as wages, unit labor costs, variable markup, capacity utilization, unfilled orders, shipments, and farm and import prices. These variables take into account changes in costs, shifts in demand, productivity trends, tax changes etc., but do not explicitly take into account the effect on prices of changes in the money supply. Fand argues these models use basically the microeconomic approach of supply and demand analysis to explain a macroeconomic price variable. This approach poses two problems. First, movements in an aggregate index cannot be adequately explained using a theory of relative prices. And second "...this demand-supply theory suggests that changes in the cost of production (an autonomous rise in the money wage rates, in the markup factor, or in profits) will cause general commodity prices to rise without specification of the monetary requirements necessary to generate rising prices or validate the higher price level" (Fand 40, p. 451). The current macroeconometric models do not have a monetary theory of the price level.

In these models the main reason for the non-monetary

approach to inflation lies in their basic structure. These 🥠 models are built in the Keynesian tradition where the problems of recession, insufficient demand, and unemployment are of primary interest. Assuming that aggregate supply will rise to meet aggregate demand, the emphasis in these models is on aggregate demand and its components: consumption, investment, and government spending, if a closed economy is assumed. In order to highlight aggregate demand, these models subdivide into a consumption sector, an investment sector, and a fiscal sector. The level of output and the level of employment depend on the level of aggregate demand as determined in the various sub-sectors of the model. Changes in policy variables are translated first into changes in demand, thus indirectly affecting the level of output and employment.

To determine the effect of changes in the money supply, for example, on the level of prices, output, and employment, changes in the money supply must first be translated into changes in consumption, investment, or government spending. Typically changes in the money supply are translated into changes in demand through changes in the interest rate. The interest rate mechanism operates in the manner to be described. The money supply change causes interest rates to change. The interest rate changes will lead to changes in consumption and investment. For example, the FRB-MIT-Penn

model postulates first a change in the money supply which affects interest rates. The changes in the interest rates change the various investment variables through the cost of capital variables. Consumption is directly influenced by changes in interest rates and is also affected by the interest rate effect on wealth. Housing expenditures are directly affected by interest rate changes as well as credit rationing variables, (25). Autonomous changes in the money supply in general will not affect the level of government spending.¹

The effect of changes in the money supply on prices, output and employment is obscured in these models, because the effect of monetary changes is not direct, but must operate through the interest rate mechanism. The interest rate is, however, a price. And, like any price, it is determined by the interplay of the forces of supply and demand. A

¹The converse, however, is not necessarily true. If there is an increase in government spending, government can obtain its spending power in three ways. The first is to increase taxes, causing declines in consumption and investment to offset the increase in government spending. The second is deficit financing through the issue and sale of bonds to the public. The public trades present consumption and investment for future consumption and investment, freeing current goods and services for government use. The third is deficit financing through the issue and sale of government bonds to the Federal Reserve. This increases the money supply to the extent that the Federal Reserve does not offset this purchase of bonds by open market operations. Therefore, although the autonomous shifts in the money supply do not affect the level of government spending, the method used to finance government spending may change the money supply.

change in supply <u>or</u> demand will affect the interest rate. We can isolate the effect of monetary actions on the interest rate only if we hold demand constant as well as the other factors that influence supply. And this is impossible in a model built to explain actual economic phenomena. The full implications of using an interest rate to reflect monetary actions is discussed more fully by Starleaf and Stephenson (107), and in other literature on the monetary indicator problem (14, 15).

Further, in an inflationary period the money supply effect in changing interest rates becomes impossible to isolate. The reason for this is seen in Irving Fisher's distinction between real and nominal rates of interest. The nominal or market rate of interest measures the rate of exchange between present and future dollars. The real rate of interest measures the rate of exchange between present and future goods and services. The difference between them is the expected rate of inflation. In equation form: Rn = Rr + E(P), where Rn is the nominal rate of interest, Rr is the real rate, and $E(\dot{P})$ is the expected rate of inflation. Clearly if E(P) is zero, the nominal and real interest rates are identical. But if the rate of price increase is not zero, nominal interest rates, Rn, will change as inflationary expectations change. Hypothetically, during an inflationary period because of expected continued inflation, nominal

interest rates could rise although the money supply was also increasing during the same period. If a monetary rather than an inflationary interpretation is made of the increasing interest rates, the conclusion would be that the money supply is declining and should perhaps be increased to keep interest rates from rising even further.

The interest rate mechanism gives potentially false information about the direction and impact of money supply changes. This is especially true in an inflation. It is, therefore, an unacceptable mechanism in models developed to explain the inflationary process in monetary terms.

It is the purpose of this dissertation to formulate an econometric macroeconomic model that will assess <u>directly</u> the effect of changes in the money supply on prices as well as output and employment.

Once this is accomplished, it should be possible in such a model to discern a rate of growth of the money supply consistent with the widely sought economic goals of either price stability, full employment, or economic growth.

Much has been written on an optimum rate of growth in the money supply, particularly within the context of growth models. Milton Friedman (48) has recently estimated that the optimum rate of growth of the money stock for price stability in the U.S. is about 2%. His estimate is not derived from a fully specified interdependent system of equa-

tions estimated simultaneously, but from single equation reduced form models of the demand for money.

It is the second objective of this dissertation to evaluate this suggested rate of monetary growth within the context of a simultaneous system of equations and to determine if the result generated from such a system of equations is consistent with that suggested by Dr. Friedman.

II. THE MODEL AND THE ESTIMATION OF THE STRUCTURAL EQUATIONS

A. The Model

In order to develop a model that directly accounts for changes in the money supply on prices, we begin by looking first at the formulation of a traditional Keynesian model. In such a model, aggregate demand for goods and services is defined as the sum of consumption, gross investment, and government spending on goods and services, assuming a closed economy. As an identity this can be expressed as the familiar PY = C + I + G, where PY is nominal aggregate demand broken down into its constituent parts: C, consumption; I gross investment; and G, government spending. Making the basic Keynesian assumption that aggregate supply will rise to meet aggregate demand, the definition becomes a statement of supply and demand equilibrium. If aggregate demand in real terms just equals aggregate supply in real terms, the economy will be in equilibrium. If aggregate demand is greater than aggregate supply, disequilibrium exists, setting into motion forces in the economy that will return the economy to equilibrium by increasing either prices and/or output.

This same aggregate supply and demand relationship can also be constructed from the quantity theory of money. In terms of this theory, over a specified time period, the supply of money times income velocity must equal the average

price of goods and services sold during the period multiplied by the amount of real output sold. In equation form this relationship is defined by the familiar equation of exchange: MV = PY. PY is aggregate supply, while the interaction of M and V can be interpreted to represent aggregate demand. Actual velocity times the money supply must equal the nominal value of the goods and services sold. In this formulation, the equation is an identity.

If <u>desired</u> money balances are substituted for the money supply, the equation then represents an equilibrium condition which states that aggregate demand and aggregate supply will be equal if, and only if, actual money balances are equal to desired money balances. If the actual and desired values deviate, it is possible to have either excess demand or supply in the aggregate economy. If the supply of money is greater than the amount of money that people desire to hold, it is assumed that people attempt to spend away their excess money balances. It follows that either C or I or G has to increase. This increase in aggregate demand has the effect of calling forth increases in either prices or real output or a combination of the two, depending upon the availability of unutilized productive capacity.

Employing the above analysis, the model we have specified is developed in two sectors. One sector is formulated to represent aggregate demand. The other sector is formu-

lated to embody the forces pertinent to aggregate supply. Price increases, or inflation, are then viewed within the context of the model as resulting from the difference between aggregate supply and demand.

The model consists of eight equations: a price equation, a velocity equation, an output equation, an employment equation, and a wage equation, plus three definitional identities to close the model. The model is specified in loglinear form since four of the five basic equations: prices, velocity, output, and employment are theoretically multiplicative, and the wage equation is multiplicative in the demand for labor and no <u>a priori</u> reason exists to reject a multiplicative formulation for the supply of labor as well.

The estimates of each of the structural equations are based on quarterly observations from 1952 to 1969. Each of the equations is estimated by ordinary least squares or generalized least squares. Two stage least squares estimation was attempted, but in terms of the predictive accuracy in the reduced form of the model, the ordinary least squares estimates proved to be superior.

The Model:

The model consists of eight equations, specified as follows:

(1) $\ln P_t = \ln M_t + \ln V_t - \ln Y_t$

(2)
$$\ln V_{t} = \alpha_{21} \ln \beta_{0} + \alpha_{22} \ln Y_{t} + \alpha_{23} \ln P_{t} - \alpha_{24} \ln P_{t-1}$$

(3) $\ln [Y/E]_{t} = \ln A_{t} + \beta_{1} \ln [K/E]_{t}$
(4) $\ln E_{t} = \alpha_{41} \ln \beta_{2} - \alpha_{42} \ln A_{t} + \alpha_{43} \ln Y_{t} - \alpha_{44} \ln [W/E]_{t}$
 $+ \alpha_{45} \ln P_{t}$
(5) $\ln W_{t} = \alpha_{51} \ln \beta_{2} + \alpha_{52} \ln Y_{t} + \alpha_{53} \ln P_{t} + \alpha_{54} \ln N_{t}$
 $+ \alpha_{55} \ln E_{t}$
(6) $\ln Y_{t} = \ln [Y/E]_{t} + \ln E_{t}$
(7) $\ln [W/E]_{t} = \ln W_{t} - \ln E_{t}$

(8)
$$\ln [K/E]_t = \ln K_t - \ln E_t$$

Where P is the price level, P_{t-1} is the price level lagged 1 quarter; M is the money supply; V is velocity; Y is real income; E is the number of men and women employed; Y/E is real income divided by the number employed; A is the level of technology; K is the capital stock; K/E is the capital stock divided by employment; and N is the size of the population between the ages of 14 and 64. All variables are measured in the current period, except for P_{t-1} , which is prices lagged one quarter. The α 's represent the coefficients on the variables. If there is no α , the coefficient is one. The source of the data used in the estimation of the model can be found in Appendix A.

B. The Price Equation

The price equation is quickly recognizable as a simple variant of the equation of exchange, MV = PY. To derive this equation, the natural log is taken of the equation of exchange and the price variable is algebraically isolated:

(1)
$$\ln P_{+} = \ln M_{+} + \ln V_{+} - \ln Y_{+}$$

Prices change when there is disequilibrium between aggregate demand and aggregate supply. Aggregate demand in the model is embodied in ln M + ln V. Aggregate supply is represented by ln Y. In this model, it is clear that the money supply itself is the crucial variable. As the money supply and/or velocity increase relative to aggregate output, prices will rise.

As discussed in the introduction, we do not employ an interest rate to determine the effect of monetary policy on the macro level of prices, wages, employment, and output. In this model we are able to obtain the direct effect of monetary changes. This is desirable for three reasons. First, we are interested in the use of the money supply rather than the interest rate as the monetary policy variable. Second, the interest rate in a simultaneous equation system should really be an endogenous rather than an exogenous variable if it is used, and at this point in the development of the

model we are not ready to include a financial sector to determine interest rates. Finally, the interest rate in an inflation model is a difficult variable to interpret and link directly with changes in the money supply because of the strong relationship between the rate of inflation and the nominal interest rate.

Changes in demand are seen in the price equation through the direct interaction of changes in the money supply and changes in velocity. In this formulation of the model the money supply is exogenous, while velocity and output are endogenously determined in later equations.

C. The Demand Sector

Because of the exogeneity of the money supply, the only behavioral equation on the demand side of this model is the velocity equation. The velocity equation is derived in the following manner. We begin again with the equation of exchange:

$$(2a)$$
 MV = PY

and velocity is isolated by dividing both sides by M:

$$(2b) \quad V = \frac{PY}{M}$$

then the numerator and denominator are both divided by P:

$$(2c) V = Y/M/P$$

In this form of the equation, it is easily seen that velocity is defined as the ratio of real income to real money balances. To make it a behavioral equation we specify that desired velocity is the ratio of real income to desired money balances. The literature of the demand for money typically specifies the following money demand relationship:

$$(2d) M/P = \beta_0 Y^{\delta} r^{-X}$$

where the demand for money balances depends positively on the level of income representing a transactions balance effect, and negatively on the interest rate representing the opportunity cost effect.

It can be argued that the rate of change of prices is superior to the interest rate as a determinant of money demand for the rate of change of prices picks up two different elements of opportunity cost. First, there should be a decrease in desired money balances as a response to inflation itself. Inflation erodes the purchasing power of idle money balances, and, in fact, acts as a tax on money balances. Second, the rate of inflation picks up the opportunity cost element embodied in the rate of interest. Given the relationship between the market rate of interest and the rate of inflation discussed in the introduction it follows that the higher the rate of inflation, the higher the nominal rate of

interest, and the higher the opportunity cost of holding money.

We replace the interest rate in the money demand function with an argument for the rate of inflation:

(2e)
$$M_t/P_t = \beta_0 Y_t^{\delta_1} (P_t/P_{t-1})^{-\delta_2}$$

The negative coefficient, $-\delta_2$, can be rationalized along the same lines as the negative coefficient for the rate of interest. The higher the opportunity cost of holding money balances, the lower the money balances held, yielding, the negative coefficient.

The velocity function is derived by substituting Equation (2e) for the denominator of (2c):

(2f)
$$V = Y_t / \beta_0 Y_t^{\delta_1} (P_t / P_{t-1})^{-\delta_2}$$

Taking the natural log of both sides, we obtain:

(2g)
$$\ln V_t = -\ln \beta_0 + (1-\delta_1)\ln Y_t + \delta_2 \ln P_t - \delta_2 \ln P_{t-1}$$

The empirical estimate of this equation, based on the period 1952 to 1969, is as follows: ("t" values are in parentheses)

$$\ln V_{t} = -1.9385 + .5139 \ln Y_{t} - 3.106 \ln P_{t} + 3.817 \ln P_{t-1}$$
(5.56) (9.131) (3.898) (4.878)
$$\overline{R}^{2} = .9829$$

$$DW = .3998$$

The sign and size of the coefficient on real income is consistent with theoretical expectations. Disentangling the coefficient on Y to obtain δ_1 , the income elasticity of money demand, yields a value of .4861. This estimate is consistent with those of other studies relating real money balances, measured as demand deposits plus currency, to real income and interest rates. For example, Dickson and Starleaf in their forthcoming paper (30) relate the demand for real money balances to real income, a market rate of interest, the yield on commercial bank time deposits, and the aggregate price index. They estimated the equation with the Almon lag structure, and report a coefficient on ln y^{*} of .526.

The reversed signs on prices is puzzling. The net effect is, negative $(-3.106 (P_t - P_{t-1}) + .7 P_{t-1})$ which is opposite of what the theory would lead us to expect.

The low Durbin-Watson is, of course, of concern. An attempt was made to estimate this equation by generalized least squares. The generalized least squares (GLS) was performed by using a first order auto-regressive scheme on the residuals from the OLS equation. The original data were transformed on the basis of the parameter from the residual regression. The function was then re-estimated using the transformed variables in place of the original variables. The transformed variables took the form of $Y'_t = Y_t - \rho Y_{t-1}$. The

first "pass" using GLS resulted in the loss of significance on P_t , unrealistic regression coefficients, and an even lower Durbin-Watson. The equation was subjected to a second round of GLS and similar results were obtained in terms of significance and coefficient size, but the Durbin-Watson moved from positive serial correlation to negative serial correlation. We decided to acknowledge the presence of serial correlation in the estimated equation and proceed.

D. The Supply Sector

1. The production function

The supply sector is dominated by the aggregate production function. Following Valavanis (113), the aggregate supply function employed is the well known and widely used Cobb-Douglas production function. For our model we require that the Cobb-Douglas be homogenous of degree one, that is $\beta_1 + \beta_2 = 1$:

$$(3a) \quad Y = AK^{\beta_1} E^{\beta_2}$$

Ideally we would like to have K represent the flow of capital services. We would also like an employment measure purged of underemployment and overtime qualifications. It would also be most desirable to have an independent measure of A, like the one constructed by Solow (104) using Goldsmith's data for the period 1909 to 1943. In all cases, data limitations forced the use of less than ideal measures of these variables. Capital is entered as a stock. A, the level of technology, is proxied by a measure of output per man hour. And E, employment, is the number of persons employed.

There are several different ways of expressing a Cobb-Douglas production function for estimation. The one we chose was the one that performed the best, that is, the one that gave the most consistent predictions in the reduced form of the model. This form of the Cobb-Douglas is derived as follows: First divide both sides of (3a) by E:

(3b)
$$Y/E = AK^{\beta_1} E^{\beta_2-1}$$

By the assumption of 1st degree homogeneity, $\beta_2 - 1 = \beta_1$, and (3b) becomes:

$$(3c) \quad Y/E = A(K/E)^{\beta_1}$$

Taking the natural logs, we obtain:

(3d)
$$\ln Y/E = \ln A + \beta_1 \ln K/E$$

The estimated equation is as follows:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \ln Y/E = .6617 \ln A + .832 \ln K/E & \overline{R}^2 = .9997 \\ (6.972) & (58.233) & DW = .946 \\ \rho = .93 \end{array}$$

It is noted that despite using generalized least squares, the Durbin-Watson remains low. It is also noted that the coefficient on K/E is rather high for the exponent for the capital input in production, although it is of the same order of magnitude (.7) obtained by Valavanis² (113).

The capital stock in this formulation of the model is taken as exogenous, even though it logically should be endogenous. To endogenize the capital stock would require the specification of an investment function as well as an accumulation function. This would involve the introduction of a series of linear equations and identities yielding a mixed system of linear and nonlinear equations. While procedures are currently available for handling mixed systems of equations, the model would have become substantially more complicated. It was decided at this stage in the development of the model to enter the capital stock as an exogenous variable.

²Because of our concern over the size of this coefficient, a different form of the equation was estimated. This formulation took the form of:

(3e) $\ln Y/E = con + \beta_1 \ln K/E$ and the estimate of this equation is: (3f) $\ln Y/E = 5.753 + .401 \ln K/E = \overline{R}^2 = .999$

dictions, so the presented equation (3d) was chosen.

2. The employment function

There has existed for quite some time a debate in the literature over the role of the real wage in the economy. The marginal productivity theory of distribution assigns to the real wage the role of clearing the labor markets. By contrast, the Cambridge school³ argues that the main function of the real wage is to create enough income for workers to clear the commodity market. The marginal productivity argument focuses on aggregate supply, while the Cambridge school emphasizes the demand side.

Solow and Stiglitz (105) have constructed a theoretical model which incorporates both these theories of the real wage. Their main arguments will be briefly summarized here because we draw on them in the development of the employment equation.

Their model first specifies an aggregate production function. In the short run, aggregate supply is postulated as a function of the labor input only: $Y^S = F(N)$, F'(N) > 0, F''(N) < 0. Under more or less competitive conditions, aggregate supply will be near the profit maximizing level of output where price is equal to marginal cost. Because labor is the only input, this is tantamount to arguing that to be on the aggregate supply curve labor will be hired up to

³So named, because this explanation of the role of the real wage has been discussed at various times by Nicholas, Kaldor, Joan Robinson, and Luigi Pasinetti.

the point where the real wage rate paid equals the marginal product of labor. Further, because of decreasing marginal productivity, aggregate output can be seen as an inverse function of the real wage. Thus, $Y^{S} = F^{-1} (W/P) = G(W/P)$, where G' < 0.

On the demand side, aggregate demand is seen as an increasing or constant function of the real wage. The higher the real wage, the more purchasing power wage earners have. Aggregate demand is specified as: $Y^{d} = H(W/P)$, H' > 0. There then exists some real wage, W/P*, such that aggregate supply and aggregate demand are equal. If the actual real wage is below (W/P)*, aggregate supply will be greater than aggregate demand. In this case actual output will be limited to the level of aggregate demand. Producers will produce what they can sell. When the level of output is determined by the level of aggregate demand, which is less than the desired level of aggregate supply at the going real wage, producers are forced to move away from their profit maximizing level of output and employment. The marginal product of labor employed is greater than the real wage, or price is greater than marginal cost. It would seem that each competitive producer would increase his profits by increasing output and employment, but all producers together can sell no more than Y^d, the level of aggregate demand. Therefore, excess supply is incompatible with perfect compe-

tition. Arrow (2), suggests that a way to solve this theoretical problem is to postulate that when there is excess supply, markets become imperfectly competitive. Each producer now views himself as facing a falling, rather than a horizontal demand curve for his products. Hence, if aggregate demand is less than aggregate supply at the going real wage, the level of aggregate demand dominates the production decisions of suppliers who remain off their desired supply schedules until demand rises to the equilibrium level of output. When the real wage is greater than $(W/P)^*$, there is excess demand in the economy and producers will produce along their aggregate supply function.

In terms of an illustration:



Aggregate demand, Y^d , is seen as a positive function of the real wage, (W/P). Aggregate supply, because of diminishing marginal returns to labor, exhibits a negative slope. (W/P)* and Y* are that real wage and output level required to equate aggregate demand and supply. The relevant portion

of the graph is the inverted "v", whose zenith is Y*. Using this illustration, it can be seen that if the real wage lies to the left of (W/P)*, say $(W/P)_1$, producers wish to supply Y_1^{s} , which is greater than the amount of aggregate demand, Y_1^{d} , generated at the real wage $(W/P)_1$. In this case, the level of aggregate demand prevails and actual output equals Y_1^{d} . Anywhere on the left leg of the inverted "v", producers are producing at an output level below the optimal level. At this level of production, price is greater than marginal cost, or the marginal product of labor is greater than the real wage. As the real wage rises toward (W/P)*, output will increase in response to the increase in demand which is the result of the increase in the real wage. This allows producers to move toward their desired level of output which is represented by the supply curve.

Once the real wage rises to $(W/P)^*$, the argument becomes asymetrical as output no longer responds to changes in demand, but is now controlled by the conditions affecting the aggregate supply function. As the real wage is forced above the equilibrium level, to the right of $(W/P)^*$, producers will now produce along the downsloping right leg of the inverted "v", which is the relevant portion of the aggregate supply function. Every point on this curve represents a price equal to the marginal cost condition. As the real wage continues to move to the right of $(W/P)^*$,

output and employment will <u>decrease</u>, leaving the economy in a period of excess demand. To require that production be equal to aggregate demand at a real wage greater than (W/P)* would force production to an output level where price was less than marginal cost causing profits to fall. This is an untenable position in a free enterprise economy where each producer makes his own production decisions. A producer finding himself at a level of production where profits are falling would either reduce production by laying off workers until he was back at his profit maximizing level of production, given the real wage, or he would raise his price causing the real wage to fall back toward equilibrium.

The implications of this analysis for employment are interesting. Because Y = F(N), it can be seen that as the economy moves from $(W/P)_1$ toward equilibrium at $(W/P)^*$, the effect of the higher wage rate will increase aggregate demand, and employment will increase as output rises to meet the increase in demand. In this situation, employment can be seen as an increasing function of the real wage. This finding helps explain the phenomenon of increasing real wages and increasing employment at the beginning of the business cycle. This positive functional relationship continues until $(W/P)^*$ is reached. As mentioned previously, the argument becomes asymetrical at this point. If the real wage is pushed beyond $(W/P)^*$, employment will <u>fall</u> as producers move

down along the aggregate supply curve. In this portion of the inverted "v", employment is seen as an inverse function of the real wage.

From this model a possible explanation of a period characterized by both inflation and unemployment can be attempted. Given large wage increases during a boom, the real wage will be pushed beyond (W/P)* if prices do not keep pace. Because the new real wage is now greater than the equilibrium real wage, employment and output will fall as producers adjust their output to a level where the marginal physical product of labor is equal to the real wage. At the same time high wages for those who remain working keep aggregate demand from falling in proportion to employment cuts. Hence, inflation occurs as aggregate demand exceeds aggregate supply, although there is unemployment in the economy. If wages are held fairly constant as prices rise in this situation, the real wage will fall and the economy will move back toward equilibrium at the lower equilibrium wage with higher output and employment.

It should be noted here that this analysis does not insure full employment at equilibrium. It is not necessary in this formulation for (W/P)* to be equal to the real wage that will clear the labor market. An equality between aggregate supply and demand could occur at a level of output requiring less than full employment of the labor force.

With this model of the relationship between employment and the real wage, we derive the employment function used in our model. We begin with the specification of the limiting case of the marginal productivity determination of the real wage-employment relationship. We will then modify the function by incorporating a correction factor for periods when employment depends not on the equality of productivity and the real wage, but on the level of aggregate demand. When aggregate demand dominates production decisions, the real wage will be less than the marginal product of labor.

First the aggregate production function is again postulated. Because this model is to be estimated from 1952 to 1969 it would be inconsistent to specify a short run production function where output is a function of labor only. What immediately follows is essentially a short run argument, but the function is corrected to incorporate long term elements later in the development.

Again we postulate the Cobb-Douglas production function:

$$(4a) \quad Y = AK^{\beta_1} E^{\beta_2}$$

and taking the first derivative with respect to employment:

(4b)
$$\partial Y / \partial E = A \beta_2 \kappa^{\beta_1} E^{\beta_2 - 1}$$

which can be rewritten as:

(4c)
$$\partial Y / \partial E = \beta_2 (AK^{-\beta_1} E^{\beta_2}) E^{-1}$$

Noting the expression in parentheses is equal to Y, we substitute and obtain the following:

(4d)
$$\partial Y / \partial E = \beta_2 Y / E$$

Then assuming more or less competitive conditions, we can assume that to be on the profit maximizing aggregate supply curve labor will be paid a real wage rate, $(W/EP)^4$, equal to its marginal product:

(4e)
$$\partial Y / \partial E = (W/EP)^{\phi_1}$$

If the equality holds exactly, such that we are always on the aggregate supply curve, price will be equal to marginal cost and ϕ_1 will equal 1, and should estimate so empirically. We anticipate that during certain quarters over which the function is estimated, we will not be on the aggregate supply function. We allow for this by using the power of ϕ_1 on (W/EP), and allowing for a less than unity coefficient empirically. It should be noted that we would not expect ϕ_1 to estimate greater than one as this would imply that producers were paying labor more than its marginal product, causing profits to fall.

Equating (4d) and (4e), taking the natural log of both sides, and solving for E, we obtain:

⁴Because elsewhere in the model the symbol <u>W</u> represents the wage <u>bill</u> and not the wage <u>rate</u>, the real wage rate will be expressed as W/EP throughout the rest of the paper.

(4f)
$$\ln E_t = \ln \beta_2 + \ln Y_t - \phi_1 \ln \frac{W_t}{E_t} + \phi_1 \ln P_t$$

In this formulation we expect a unit coefficient on Y and the size of ϕ_1 tells us how close we are to the real wage equating marginal product condition. This form of the employment equation takes account only of the negative sloping portion of the inverted "v" where employment is a negative function of the real wage. We must also attempt to incorporate a variable in the employment equation that will account for the positively sloped portion.

We do this by noting that if the economy is at a position to the left of (W/P)*, aggregate demand determines the level of output and the level of employment. At this level of output the real wage is less than productivity, or $W/EP - MPP_{o} < 0$. To account for this in our function we add productivity to the employment equation as a corrective In the region on the left leg of the inverted "v", factor. employment and the real wage increase together while productivity decreases as the economy moves toward equilibrium in the commodity market. In the region on the right leg of the inverted "v", employment and the real wage move in opposite directions while employment moves with productivity. We would hope to get a negative empirical relationship between employment and productivity if we are in fact picking up some of the influence of the positive relationship between the

real wage and employment during periods where aggregate demand controls the productive decisions.

Adding the productivity variable does something else for the employment equation. It allows it to shift over time in response to shifts in the production function. The employment function takes on the desired long run characteristics by allowing for shifts in the function over time. In this type of a formulation we are implicitly assuming disembodied or neutral technical change. A negative sign on productivity in this context would suggest capital-labor substitution.

Since we can find no <u>a priori</u> reason prohibiting the inclusion of productivity as additive in the logs, we modify (4f) as follows:

(4g) $\ln E_t = \pi_1 \ln \beta_2 + \pi_2 \ln Y_t - \pi_3 \ln \frac{W_t}{E_t} + \pi_4 \ln P_t$ $-\pi_5 \ln A_t$

The reader will note the change in coefficients between Equation (4f) and (4g). Because of the interdependence of wages, output, and productivity, we could not expect the coefficients to remain the same after the inclusion of productivity in the equation. In the empirical estimation of this equation we would no longer expect unitary coefficients on $\ln \beta_2$, and $\ln \gamma$, nor would we expect identical
coefficients on wages and prices.

The estimated equation is as follows:

$$\ln E_{t} = -3.713 + .833 \ln Y_{t} - .424 \ln W_{t}/E_{t} + .743 \ln P_{t}$$

$$(11.32) \quad (18.93) \quad t \quad (6.51) \quad (9.48) \quad t \quad (9.48)$$

$$- .478 \ln A_{t} \qquad \overline{R}^{2} = .999$$

$$(13.78) \qquad DW = 1.56 \quad \rho = .54$$

The equation was estimated using generalized least squares. The equation coefficients come with the expected signs. There is a strong relationship between output and employment as would be expected. The coefficients on W/E and P are different from each other suggesting that productivity has a different relationship with wages and with prices. The negative sign on <u>A</u> is difficult to interpret because of the dual function of <u>A</u> in the equation. The negative sign supports a capital-labor substitution effect, as well as the argument of productivity decrease and employment increase as the economy moves from a position of insufficient aggregate demand toward equilibrium.

3. The wage function

Since A. W. Phillips (89) established an empirical relationship between wages and unemployment for the U. K., attempts to improve and broaden his simple specification of the wage function have been prevalent in the literature.

Beginning with the simple Phillips relationship, further study has produced considerable conflicting evidence. In an attempt to derive a Phillips Curve for the United States. Samuelson and Solow (94) published a scatter diagram for aggregate data indicating no relationship between wages and unemployment. In a later study, Rees and Hamilton (92) found an unstable Phillips curve, and offered the possibility of the existence of a family of Phillips curves.

In an attempt to discover a more stable relationship between wages and unemployment, Lipsey and Steuer (74) added profits to the function as an explanatory variable. Using annual data they found the addition of the profit variable did improve the explanatory ability of the function, and also found that profits and unemployment have about equal explanatory power.

Following this study, Perry (86) published an extensive study relating wages, lagged prices, unemployment, and various profit variables and was able to explain an impressive amount of variation in changes in wages in the manufacturing sector. His reported R^2 is .87. The inclusion of lagged prices in a model containing profits and unemployment to explain wage changes, and the use of quarterly data to estimate the model, improve the explanation of wage changes in U.S. manufacturing.

What these and similar studies have in common is that they are mainly empirical investigations into wage determination without theoretical underpinnings. In fact Perry (86)

says: "No attempt is made here to justify formally the hypothesis that these variables are important."⁵

Edwin Kuh (67) attacks the Perry profit hypothesis in a theoretical and empirical work that offers productivity as the key determinant of changes in the wage rate, arguing that profits, in fact, are merely a proxy for productivity. The amount of variation in wage changes that Kuh is able to explain using his formulation is only about half that explained by Perry.

Christian (22), in formulating his wage equation to determine the effectiveness of the wage-price guideposts, incorporates a productivity variable along with prices and unemployment. In the manufacturing sector he is able to generate an \overline{R}^2 of .93, which exceeds that of Perry (86). In this paper, Christian compares the average forecast error in a model using a profit variant with the average forecast error using the productivity variant. He reports a forecast error in the profit variant models one and onehalf times as large as the errors in the productivity variant formulation.

In our development of the wage equation, wages are seen

⁵G. L. Perry, "The Determinants of Wage Rate Changes and the Inflation-Unemployment Trade-off for the United States", <u>Review of Economic Studies</u>, 31, (Oct. 1964), p. 287.

as a factor price. Because they are a price, wages are determined by the interplay of the forces of supply and demand. First, a demand for labor function is specified, then a supply of labor function is derived. Then the two are set equal and wages are isolated, giving us the wage function used in this model.

The demand for labor formulation follows the ideas presented by Kuh (67), in that productivity is the major determinant in the demand for labor. Following the same derivation as the employment equation, the Cobb-Douglas production function is again postulated:

(5a)
$$Y = AK^{\beta_1} E^{\beta_2}$$

the marginal product of labor is derived from this function and equated to the real wage:

(5b)
$$\beta_2 Y/E = (W/EP)^{\phi_1}$$

natural logs are taken and the employment variable is again algebraically isolated:

(5c)
$$\ln E^{D} = \ln \beta_{2} + \ln Y - \phi_{1} \ln \frac{W}{E} + \phi_{1} \ln P$$

and treated as the employer's demand for labor.

A supply of labor function is specified as follows:

(5d)
$$E^{S} = (W/EP)^{\gamma_{1}}(N)^{\gamma_{2}}(U)^{\gamma_{3}}$$

W/EP is again the real wage, N is the size of the population between the ages of 14 and 64, and U is the level of unemployment. It is hypothesized that γ_1 will be positive, as one would expect a higher real wage to attract a larger supply of labor. γ_2 is also postulated as positive. As the size of the potential labor force grows, the supply of labor should also increase. However, the postulated sign of γ_3 is unclear. As U increases this may have the effect of either increasing or decreasing the supply of labor, depending on whether the "additional worker" or "discouraged worker" effect is dominant. The "discouraged worker" effect, as presented by Strand and Dernberg (109), derives from the case in which as unemployment rises and output falls, some workers are discouraged by not being able to find work and drop out of the labor force. As unemployment rises the supply of labor falls. Conversely, as unemployment falls, the supply of labor will rise as these workers are now encouraged to rejoin the labor market. The "additional worker" effect is defined as the case in which as unemployment increases, secondary workers are drawn into the labor force by economic need. Thus, an increase in unemployment fosters an increase in the labor force. There remains the possibility that no relationship exists between the level of unemployment and the size of the labor force if the two effects cancel each other

out. The current literature has no definitive evidence for either conclusion. The current state of opinion is that there is a differential effect present at different times depending on the intensity and length of recession or boom.

The unemployment variable may also have the effect, in addition to shifting the supply of labor curve, of changing its elasticity. In periods of low unemployment the curve may become very inelastic. During periods of low unemployment, the result of the increase in the demand for labor is an increase in the real wage. Conversely, when unemployment is high, the supply of labor curve becomes increasingly elastic, and any increase in the demand for labor can be met without large increases in the real wage. In terms of an illustration:



In Figure 1, low unemployment has caused the supply of labor function to become very inelastic. Any increase in the demand for labor, for example from E_1^{d} , to E_2^{d} , will cause a large rise in the real wage to increase employment. In Figure 2, higher unemployment causes the supply of labor curve to become more elastic. In response to an increase in demand from E_1^{d} to E_2^{d} , more labor can be employed with little change in the real wage. It is in this manner that unemployment cause the supply of labor function.

Therefore, using the supply of labor function specified in Equation (5d) and taking the natural log of this equation we obtain:

(5e)
$$\ln E^{S} = \gamma_{1} \ln \frac{W}{E} - \gamma_{1} \ln P + \gamma_{2} \ln N + \gamma_{3} \ln U$$

Setting the demand for labor (5c) equal to the supply of labor (5e), and solving for $\ln W/E$, the wage equation is obtained:

(5f)
$$\ln \frac{W}{E} = \frac{1}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln \beta_2 + \frac{1}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln \gamma + \ln P - \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln N$$
$$- \frac{\gamma_3}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln U$$

Because this is a simultaneous system of equations, it would be unrealistic to take the unemployment level as an exogenous variable. We therefore endogenize unemployment in the following manner. First we specify the following

identity:

(5g) U = L-E

where U, the level of unemployment, is defined as the difference between the labor force L, and the level of employment, E. Then dividing both sides of the equation by L we obtain:

(5h)
$$U/L = 1 - E/L$$

Now define another identity:

$$(5i)$$
 $(1-E/L) = (E/L)^{\circ}$

where σ is that number that makes this an identity. For example if E/L = .5 then σ would equal 1.00. As E/L increases, σ remains positive and becomes greater than one. Now, substituting the right hand side of (5i) into (5h), the following is obtained:

(5j) U/L = $(E/L)^{\sigma}$

Taking the natural log of both sides and solving for ln U:

(5k)
$$\ln U = \sigma \ln E + (1-\sigma) \ln L$$

We now specify that:

(51) $L = N^{V}$

where v is the elasticity of the labor force with respect to population. Again taking the natural log of this equation:

(5m) $\ln L = v \ln N$

Making the proper substitution of ln L into (5k), we obtain our expression for unemployment:

(5n)
$$\ln U = \sigma \ln E + (1-\sigma) \vee \ln N$$

Substituting this equation for unemployment into the wage equation, we obtain:

(50)
$$\ln \frac{W}{E} = \frac{1}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln \beta_2 + \frac{1}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln Y$$

+ $\ln P - \frac{\{\gamma_2 + \gamma_3 \vee (1 - \sigma)\}}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln N - \frac{\gamma_3 \sigma}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1} \ln E$

Because many policy discussions focus on the wage income rather than an aggregate wage rate, we express this equation in terms of the wage bill. Noting that: $\ln W/E = \ln W - \ln E$, we add ln E to both sides of (50), obtaining the wage equation included in the model:

(5p)
$$\ln W_{t} = \frac{1}{\gamma_{1} + \phi_{1}} \ln \beta_{2} + \frac{1}{\gamma_{1} + \phi_{1}} \ln Y_{t}$$

+ $\ln P_{t} - \frac{\{\gamma_{2} - \gamma_{3} \vee (1 - \sigma)\}}{\gamma_{1} + \phi_{1}} \ln N_{t} + \{1 - \frac{\gamma_{3} \sigma}{\gamma_{1} + \phi_{1}}\} \ln E_{t}$

The estimated equation is as follows:

$$\ln W_{t} = 2.871 + .714 \ln Y_{t} + 1.202 \ln P_{t} - .0032 \ln N_{t}$$

$$(2.634) (9.476) + .609 \ln E_{t}$$

$$\overline{R}^{2} = .999$$

$$DW = 1.821 \quad \rho = .69$$

Because of the low Durbin-Watson using ordinary least squares, the equation was estimated using generalized least squares. The signs of the variables in the estimated equation are as predicted for output, prices, and population. The positive sign on employment indicates that the sign of γ_2 , the elasticity of the supply of labor with respect to unemployment must be positive, since the denominator, $(\gamma_1 + \phi_1)$, is known to be positive from the positive coefficient on ln Y, and since σ must also be positive and greater than 1. In order for the expression $[1 - \frac{\gamma_3^{\sigma}}{\gamma_1 + \phi_1}]$ to be positive and less than 1, γ_3 must be positive. This evidence supports the "additional worker" hypothesis. To generate further confirmation on the sign of γ_2 , the equation was reestimated using W/E as the dependent variable. In this formulation the coefficient on employment becomes $-\frac{\gamma_3^{\sigma}}{\gamma_1+\phi_1}$ in E. The sign of the estimated coefficient of ln E in this form of the equation is negative further supporting the positive sign of γ_2 .

The coefficient on prices is greater than unity, the theoretical size of this coefficient. We are, perhaps,

picking up the "over-reaction" by labor to inflation in the latter part of the 1960's. Given an inflationary period and the expiration of labor contracts, labor attempts to make up for past losses as well as projected future losses in pur-Therefore, the coefficient on prices would chasing power. be greater than unity. To support this interpretation, we estimated the wage equation for the first 36 quarters of the sample period using generalized least squares. This estimation of the wage equation covers the period from 1952 to 1960, which is a period of relative price stability. For this period the coefficient on prices falls to .998. The hypothesis of the over-reaction of wages to price increases during inflationary periods is empirically supported. The entire estimated equation for wages from 1952-1960 is presented in Appendix B.

It is impossible to disentangle the coefficient on Y. It is readily determined that the value of $(\phi_1 + \gamma_1)$ is 1.4. Given that ϕ_1 is the indicator of the extent to which labor receives its marginal product, we know that its value must be positive and, in all likelihood, cannot, exceed unity. Thus, if ϕ_1 is equal to, or very close to, unity, γ_1 , the elasticity of the supply of labor with respect to the real wage would be equal to, or very close to .4. Without independent information, we can only conclude that this is a reasonable estimate.

We attribute the non-significance of the coefficient of population to the small variance in the series compared with changes in the wage bill.

Expectations by labor about the future rate of inflation plays a pivotal role in the wage-price nexus. Thus it would be most desirable to incorporate a measure of expectations into the model. An initial attempt to incorporate expectations into the wage equation is presented and discussed in Appendix C.

E. The Complete Model

Before proceeding to the derivation of the reduced form, it will be useful to summarize the complete theoretical model and the estimates of its structural equations:

Theoretical Model:

(1)	$\ln P_t = \ln M_t + \ln V_t - \ln Y_t$
(2)	$\ln v_t = \alpha_{21} \ln \beta_0 + \alpha_{22} \ln y_t + \alpha_{23} \ln P_t - \alpha_{24} \ln P_{t-1}$
(3)	$\ln [Y/E]_{t} = \ln A_{t} + \beta_{1} \ln [K/E]_{t}$
(4)	$\ln E_t = \alpha_{41} \ln \beta_2 - \alpha_{42} \ln A_t + \alpha_{43} \ln Y_t$
	$-\alpha_{44} \ln [W/E]_t + \alpha_{45} \ln P_t$

(5)
$$\ln W_{t} = \alpha_{51} \ln \beta_{2} + \alpha_{52} \ln Y_{t} + \alpha_{53} \ln P_{t} + \alpha_{54} \ln N_{t} + \alpha_{55} \ln E_{t}$$

(6) $\ln Y_{t} = \ln [Y/E]_{t} + \ln E_{t}$

(7)
$$\ln [W/E]_t = \ln W_t - \ln E_t$$

(8)
$$\ln [K/E]_t = \ln K_t - \ln E_t$$

Structural Estimates:

(2)
$$\ln V_{+} = -1.9385 + .5139 \ln Y_{+} - 3.106 \ln P_{+}$$

+ 3.817 ln P_{t-1}

(3)
$$\ln Y/E_{+} = 5.6617 \ln A_{+} + .832 \ln [K/E]_{+}$$

(4)
$$\ln E_t = -3.713 + .833 \ln Y_t - .424 \ln [W/E]_t$$

+ .743 $\ln P_t - .478 \ln A_t$

(5)
$$\ln W_{+} = 2.878 + .714 \ln Y_{+} + 1.202 \ln P_{+} - .0032 \ln N_{+}$$

+ .609 ln E_t

The output equation, the employment equation aht eht wage equation are all estimated using generalized least squares. The general form of an equation estimated by GLS is:

$$Y_t = \alpha_0 + \alpha_i X_{it} + \rho u_{t-1} + e_t$$

The structural equations to be used in the computation of the reduced form coefficients must be of this form. We, therefore, solve for u_{t-1} from the original equation:

$$\mathbf{U}_{t-1} = \mathbf{Y}_{t-1} - \alpha_0 - \alpha_i \mathbf{X}_{i_{t-1}}$$

and substitute this into the above expression:

$$Y_t = \alpha_0(1-\rho) + \alpha_i X_i + \rho Y_{t-1} - \rho \alpha_i X_{i_{t-1}} + e_t$$

Each structural equation estimated by GLS now contains not only the current values of the relevant variables, but ρ times the lagged values of the independent and dependent variables as well.

Also before proceeding to the reduced form of the model and the policy implications that can be generated, several comments about the model seem in order. This is a very small, very aggregative, and very interdependent model. It lacks a financial sector, and endogenous capital stock, an indicator for government fiscal policy, and in independent foreign sector. With this in mind, the following discussion of the reduced form, its coefficients, and the policy implications derived from it should be understood as an indication of the true relationship existing among the variables discussed.

III. THE DERIVED REDUCED FORM OF THE MODEL, ITS RELIABILITY,

AND THE POLICY IMPLICATIONS

A. The Derived Reduced Form of the Model

Once we have estimated each of the structural equations, getting the individual effect of each of the independent variables on each of the dependent variables, the next step is to take the model into its reduced form. The interdependence of the entire system is then taken into account and the effect of each exogenous variable on each endogenous variable is isolated.

In matrix notation, we begin with:

 $\Gamma Y = -\beta X$

where Y is the vector of jointly determined variables, X the vector of exogenous variables, Γ the matrix of coefficients of the jointly determined variables, and β the matrix of coefficients of the exogenous variables.

We then calculate Γ^{-1} , and premultiply both sides of the matrix equation by Γ^{-1} , giving us the derived reduced form:

 $Y = \pi X$

Table 1 presents the π matrix of reduced form coefficients. The endogenous and exogenous variables are so labeled

Exogenous	(Endogenous Variables)								
variables	P	V	Y/E	Е	W	Y	W/E	K/E	
Con	4138	9057	2.4363	-2.928	-1.742	4919	1.1864	2.9282	
М	.24204	7452	0631	.0758	.3462	.0127	.2704	7058	
A	0745	.5546	.8231	1939	.2416	.6291	.4355	.1939	
N	00004	.0003	0015	.0018	0019	.0003	0037	0018	
К	1096	.8161	.3679	.5578	.8689	.9257	.3111	.4422	
P-1	.9251	.9626	1857	.2232	.4453	.0375	.2221	2232	
W-1	.0078	0578	.3246	3902	.4149	0656	.8051	.3902	
Y-1	.0064	0476	.2674	3213	7192	0540	3979	.3213	
A-1	.0742	5526	5586	0683	3999	6269	3317	.0683	
E-1	0191	.1419	7969	.9579	.2551	.1609	7027	9579	
N-1	.00002	0002	.0010	0012	.0013	0002	.0026	.0012	
W/E-1	0061	.0452	2541	.3054	.2153	.0513	0901	3054	
Y/E-1	1225	.9122	.4113	.6235	.9712	1.0347	.3478	6235	
K/E-l	.1019	7590	3422	5187	8081	8609	2894	.5187	

. .

Table 1. Matrix of reduced form coefficients

.

-

.

.

in the table. Each coefficient in the π matrix represents, <u>ceteris paribus</u>, the change in an endogenous variable given a unit change in an exogenous variable. For example, if the money supply increases by 1%, prices would increase by .24205%, etc.

In this model, our basic idea was to isolate the money supply as a policy variable in order to determine the effect of changes in the money supply on prices, wages, employment, and output. Looking at the reduced form coefficients indicates first that a unit increase in the money supply will increase prices and the wage rate by an almost equal amount (.27 for the wage rate vs .24 for prices). Money supply changes have their strongest effect on current velocity (-.75). The strong negative effect suggests the existence of a lag in the effect of changes in the money supply as reported by Friedman and others. What we cannot discern from the model in its current specification, is the effect on the real variables of the system that will take place as actual money balances are brought into equilibrium with the desired level of money balances. Lags aside, if these estimates are at all indicative of the true relationships, the small impact of changes in the money supply on output (.012) and employment (.08) over the period studied is rather striking. A possible explanation of these small coefficients is that the rapid rate of growth in the money supply during

the latter part of the 1960's coincided with a period of full employment, and full production. The coefficients during this period may well dominate the full period relationship, giving the result that changes in the money supply really affect only prices and wages and do not affect output and employment significantly. To check this possibility the model should be reestimated over a period of relative price stability, and the coefficients compared. Alternatively, the estimates provide support for the proposition that money is neutral. This is not necessarily surprising. These estimates represent an 18 year average of the quarterly effect of changes in the money supply on output and employment, and we may be picking up the long run neutrality of money.

The reduced form further reveals that a unit increase in productivity has a small (-.075) negative effect on prices and a moderately negative (-.19) effect on employment, while increasing the wage bill (.24), output (.63), and the wage rate (.45). The signs and magnitudes of these relationships are as expected. The small effect on prices is disappointing, but may be explained by the fact that increases in productivity more often go into increases in wages rather than decreases in prices. The coefficient on employment (-.19) suggests capital-labor substitution, and/or that the relationship between increases in productivity and employment during the upward movement on the cycle are overpowered by the in-

creases in productivity gained as marginal workers using older capital equipment are laid off as a recession begins. The strong effect (.61) on output indicates the importance of productivity gains for noninflationary expansion.

Changes in population show little effect on any of the endogenous variables.

Capital formation, as expected, is clearly a key variable. A unit increase in the capital stock has a moderate effect on decreasing prices (-.11), increasing employment (.56), and increasing the wage rate (.31), and a strong effect on increasing the wage bill (.87), output (.92), and velocity (.81).

Turning now to the lagged coefficients, the interplay of lagged prices and lagged wages is interesting. Initially it appears that price increases last quarter will increase employment (.22), or inflation is beneficial to employment. This view ignores the relationship between wages and prices. Although increasing prices last quarter do have a positive effect on employment, increasing wages last quarter will cause a decline (-.39) in current employment. From the structural equation for the determination of the wage bill, we note that current wage increases are 1.2 times as large as current price increases. This suggests that a 1% increase in prices this quarter, and a 1.2% increase in wages this quarter should lead to a net decline in employment next quarter, if we con-

sider only the wage-price effects on employment, of -.24%. Isolating the wage-price effect on future employment indicates that inflation really does not increase employment, but has the opposite effect. As would be expected given the above discussion of the employment effect, the net effect of increasing wages and prices on the next quarter's real output is also negative, but the net effect is small (-.08%). Combining the wage and price lags with the money supply, it is noted that real output is unresponsive to changes in the monetary variables of the system.

The effect of lagged prices on the monetary variables of the system is very strong, affecting current prices with a coefficient of .92, velocity with a coefficient of .96, and the current wage bill with a coefficient of .45. The strong response of velocity to lagged price increases suggests that although the monetary authorities control the money supply in an attempt to control inflation, increases in velocity during an inflationary spiral can lead to still further inflationary pressures on the economy. The rate of growth of the money supply may have to be slowed even more than originally thought to halt inflation.

Considering the coefficients on lagged wages, we find little evidence to verify a wage push element in the inflationary spiral, as the effect of lagged wages on current prices is very small (.008).

The lagged output coefficients suggest that the higher output last quarter, the lower (-.32) employment in the current period. The employment effect could explain the negative coefficient between lagged output and the wage bill (-.72) and the wage rate (-.40).

The coefficients on lagged productivity are very puzzling. An increase in productivity this quarter leads to price decreases (-.07) in the current period, but price increases (.07) in the following quarter. As would be expected, lagged productivity leads to further decreases in employment (-.07). It also leads to decreases in the wage bill (-.40), output (-.63) and the wage rate (-.33). Again we may be picking up the employment effect on productivity increases that could account for these rather odd results.

B. The Reliability of the Model

In order to determine the reliability of the model, the data were tracked over the sample period using the derived reduced form equations. These estimates were compared with the actual values of the data used in the estimation of the model. The methodology of this test is as follows. We begin with the reduced form of the model where each endogenous variable is specified as a function of all the exogenous variables multiplied by the proper reduced form

coefficient. In matrix notation this becomes: $Y = \pi X$. Using these reduced form equations, we generate 72 quarterly predictions for each of the endogenous variables in the model, \hat{Y}_{ij} , where "i" subscripts the year and "j" subscripts the quarter of the forecast variable. To generate the forecasts, \hat{Y}_{ij} , the values of the exogenous variables that were used to estimate the model are read in, and multiplied by the appropriate reduced form coefficient. For example: $\hat{P}_{52:I} = \operatorname{con} + \pi_{1,2}M_{52:I} + \pi_{1,3}A_{52:I} + \pi_{1,4}N_{52:1} + \pi_{1,5}K_{52:I}$ $+ \pi_{1,6}P_{51:IV} + \pi_{1,7}W_{51:IV} + \pi_{1,8}Y_{51:IV} + \pi_{1,9}A_{51:IV}$ $+ \pi_{1,10}E_{51:IV} + \pi_{1,11}N_{51:IV} + \pi_{1,12}W/E_{51:IV}$ $+ \pi_{1,k3}V/E_{51:IV} + \pi_{1,14}K/E_{51:IV}$.

or

$$\hat{P}_{52:I} = -.41376 + .2420 \text{ M}_{52:I} - .0745 \text{ A}_{52:I} - .00004 \text{ N}_{52:I}$$

$$- .1096 \text{ K}_{52:I} + .9251 \text{ P}_{51:IV} + .0078 \text{ W}_{51:IV}$$

$$+ .0064 \text{ Y}_{51:IV} + .0742 \text{ A}_{51:IV} - .0191 \text{ E}_{51:IV}$$

$$+ .00002 \text{ N}_{51:IV} - .0061 \text{ W/E}_{51:IV} - .1225 \text{ Y/E}_{51:IV}$$

$$+ .1020 \text{ K/E}_{51:IV}$$

A vector of \hat{Y}_{ij} is computed for each of the endogenous variables. The next step is to run a correlation on Y and \hat{Y} , using the formulation:

$$Y = a + b\hat{Y}$$

to compare the forecast values with the actual values. Finally, we test the hypothesis that $\underline{a} = 0$ and $\underline{b} = 1$ from the correlation analysis. If \underline{a} does not significantly differ from 0, and \underline{b} does not significantly differ from 1, the model tracks the data very well over the sample period.

The results of this test are presented in Table 2. At the .01 level of significance we are able to accept the null hypothesis of $\underline{a} = 0$ or $\underline{b} = 1$ for 10 of the 16 correlations. This evidence suggests the model tracks the data reasonably well over the sample period.

C. The Policy Implications from the Reduced Form

In order to derive the full policy implications of the model, a dynamic simulation of the model needs to be computed and the long run or dynamic policy multipliers derived. From this type of an analysis the optimum rate of growth of the money supply could be ascertained, given the policy objectives.

This extension of the analysis is beyond the scope of the current work. We can, however, arrive at a general idea of the implications for employment and real output that a rate of growth of the money supply consistent with price stability would imply. This type of analysis is not

Dependent variable	a	"t" value H: a≠0	b	"t" value H: b-1≠0	\bar{R}^2	D.W.	S.E.E.	C.V.
P	.00032 (.00069) ^a	.464	1.0015 (.0061)	.246	.997	.418	.0056	.168
v	.0200 (.008)	2.5	.9852 (.0062)	2.258	.997	.785	.0092	.007
Y/E	.1143 (.0574)	1.99	.9871 (.0064)	2.08	.997	1.546	.0064	.001
Е -	0619 (.0209)	2.96	.9761 (.0077)	3.10	.996	1.134	.0052	002
W	.0647 (.0202	3.2	.9895 (.0035)	3.00	.999	.7002	.0095	.002
Y	.1010 (.0321)	3.14	.9841 (.0051)	3.11	.998	.942	.0086	.001
W/E	.0563 (.0306)	1.83	.9935 (.0036)	1.81	.999	1.409	.0073	.001
K/E -	1315 (.0579)	2.27	1.0134 (.0060)	2.23	.997	1.102	.0054	.001

Table 2. OLS reduced form "forecast" analysis

^aStandard errors in parentheses.

53**-5**4

definitive, but is merely suggestive of the kind of policy implications this model is capable of generating.

We begin this analysis by computing a trade-off matrix which is presented in Table 3.⁷ The coefficients in this table represent the compensating change in the money supply required to hold an endogenous variable constant, given a 1% change in an exogenous variable in one time period. For example, if there is a 1% increase in productivity, the money supply must increase by .3076% in order to hold prices constant, by .7443% to hold velocity constant, by 12.9188% to keep the output-employment ratio constant, etc. The method used to compute this table is presented in Appendix D. Among the more interesting coefficients in the table, are the changes in the money supply necessary to compensate for changes in certain exogenous variables in order to keep real output constant. For example, if the capital stock declines by 1%, the table indicates that it would take a .72718% increase in the money supply to maintain real output at its original level in one time period. This coefficient reflects the large response of real output to changes in the capital stock (.93), and the minimal response of real output to changes in the money supply (.013). This minimal response of output to money supply changes supports an argument for the

⁷This type of a trade-off approach was employed by DeWald and Johnson (29) to provide an analysis of Federal Reserve policy making.

	A, 8	(, N, or P	t-1					
	P	V	Y/E	W	Е	Y	K/E	W/E
A	.3076	.7443	12.9188	6977	2.5584	-49.421	2.5584	-1.6106
K	.4528	1.095	5.834	-2.5098	-7.3583	-72.718	5.343	-1.1506
N	.0002	.0004	0239	.0055	0239	0236	0239	.0138
Pt-1	-3.822	1.2917	-2.9445	-1.2864	-2.9446	-2.946	-2.9446	8275
W-1	0321	0775	5.1473	-1.1984	5.1478	5.1493	5.1478	-2.9775
Y-1	0266	0639	4.2389	2.0775	4.2393	4.241	4.2393	1.4715
A-1	3066	7416	-8.8564	1.1553	.9008	49.242	.9008	1.2266
E-1	.0793	.1904	-7.6356	7369	-7.6365	-12.6410	-7.6365	2.5989
N-1	0001	0002	.0165	0038	.0164	.016	.0164	0095
W/E-1	.0251	.0607	-4.0284	6219	-4.6286	-4.030	-4.0028	.3331
Y/E-1	.5062	1.2241	6.521	-2.8055	-8.2251	-81.284	-8.2251	-1.2862
K/E-1	4211	-1.0185	-5.4256	2.3342	6.8433	-67.628	6.8433	1.0701

Table 3. Tradeoff matrix (this table represents the change in the money supply needed to hold an endogenous variable constant given a unit change in A, K, N, or P_{+-1}

neutrality of money, or an argument for significant lags in the effect of monetary policy.

Now, combining Table 3 and the reduced form coefficients in Table 1, we find that if we know the quarterly growth rates of productivity and the capital stock, inflation last quarter, (because population effects are so minute they will be omitted from the discussion) the rate of growth in wages last quarter, output last quarter, productivity last quarter, employment last quarter, the wage rate last quarter, output per man last quarter and capital per man last quarter, we can determine the rate of growth in the money supply required to maintain price stability. If we assume as a starting point a period of price stability, then the rate of growth of the money supply needed to maintain price stability can be determined from the following relationship:

(a) $\Delta M = .3078 \ \Delta A + .453 \ \Delta K - .032 \ \Delta W_{t-1} - .027 \ \Delta Y_{t-1}$ - .307 $\Delta A_{t-1} + .079 \ \Delta E_{t-1} + .025 \ \Delta W/E_{t-1}$

+ .506 Δ¥/E_{t-1} - .421 ΔK/E_{t-1}

Once we have determined the change in the money supply in this fashion, we can then turn to the reduced form coefficients in Table 1 to ascertain the rate of growth in employment and output implied by the growth rates in the relevant variables using the following relationships:

(b) $\Delta E = .0759 \ \Delta M - .1936 \ \Delta A + .558 \ \Delta K - .390 \ \Delta W_{t-1}$ $- .321 \ \Delta Y_{t-1} - .068 \ \Delta A_{t-1} + .958 \ \Delta E_{t-1}$ $+ 305 \ \Delta W/E_{t-1} + .6230 \ \Delta Y/E_{t-1} - .519 \ \Delta K/E_{t-1}$ (c) $\Delta Y = .0127 \ \Delta M + .6293 \ \Delta A + .926 \ \Delta K - .066 \ \Delta W_{t-1}$ $- .054 \ \Delta Y_{t-1} - .627 \ \Delta A_{t-1} + .161 \ \Delta E_{t-1} + .051 \ \Delta W/E_{t-1}$ $+ 1.035 \ \Delta Y/E_{t-1} - .861 \ \Delta K/E_{t-1}$

To illustrate, assume that the exogenous and lagged endogenous variables take the following values: A grows at .75% per quarter, K at .75% per quarter, Y_{y-1} at 1% per quarter, A_{t-1} at .5% per quarter, E_{t-1} at .5% per quarter, W_{t-1} at 1% per quarter, W/E_{t-1} at .8% per quarter, Y/E_{t-1} at .5% per quarter, and K/E_{t-1} at .4% per quarter. We then compute from relationship (a) that the rate of growth of the money supply consistent with price stability is .53% per quarter, or an annual rate of 2.1% per year. We note that this growth rate is close to the 2% annual growth rate proposed by Milton Friedman (48), and we, therefore, feel that the model tends to generate reasonable values for policy purposes.

Using the rate of growth of the money supply calculated in (a) to be consistent with price stability, we turn to relationships (b) and (c) to determine the rates of growth of employment and real output that would also occur. We find that employment will grow at about .4% per quarter or at an annual rate of 1.6%, and will slightly exceed the average annual rate of growth of the labor force of 1.56%. Real output will grow at about 1.1% per quarter or 4.4% per year.

If a faster rate of growth in real output or employment is sought, the reduced form coefficients point to the capital stock as the key variable. Capital stock increases should also lead to productivity increases which would further increase output, but lead to declines in employment. The net effect on employment will still be positive unless productivity increases by 3% for every 1% increase in the capital stock. The data we have on the capital stock and productivity do not suggest such a relationship.

In concluding this section, we note that from the reasonable coefficients obtained from this feasibility exercise, that the model is well worth continued effort, and that simulations and dynamic multipliers would be worthwhile calculating for their more realistic policy implications.

61-62

V. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

In the present paper, we have specified and estimated a quarterly macroeconometric model in a way that would allow the effect of changes in the money supply to directly influence prices, employment, wages, and output, without forcing the money mechanism to work through an interest rate.

The formulated model is divided into two subsectors, the demand subsector and the supply subsector. The demand sector consists of the exogenous money stock and the velocity equation. The supply sector consists of the aggregate production function, an employment function and a wage function. The model is closed by three definitional identities. Each of the structural equations was estimated by either ordinary least squares or generalized least squares over the period 1952-1969 using quarterly observations.

The major conclusions of the model were drawn from the derived reduced form of the model. Changes in the money supply over the 18 year estimation period were observed to have their most significant effect on velocity. This finding strongly suggests a substantial lag in the effect of monetary changes on the economic variables of the system. Changes in the money supply had a quantitatively similar

effect on wage rates and prices, suggesting a weak response of the real wage to monetary changes. Finally, changes in the money supply had little impact on output and employment, supporting the proposition of long run money neutrality.

In the area of policy implications it was noted that to extract the real policy implications from the model simulations should be done, and the long run as dynamic multipliers computed. A feasibility example was presented to test the quality of the model in generating reasonable policy recommendations. From this simple example employing a tradeoff matrix and the reduced form coefficients we computed that the rate of growth of the money supply consistent with price stability was 2.1% annually. This estimate compares favorably with that rate of growth presented by Milton Friedman, and therefore seems reasonable. We also computed that the growth in employment would slightly exceed the growth rate of the labor force, and the growth in output would be about 4% annually. Both are reasonable values also. Further, from the reduced form it was easily seen that the rate capital formation is the key variable in increasing growth rates for both real output and employment while maintaining price stability.

In terms of future theoretical development, much can be done to improve the present model. A framework to incorporate monetary lags would be desirable as would a full financial

sector. The capital stock should be endogenized and expectations should be added.

In terms of future empirical work, the model should be extended into the future to test its predictive accuracy from 1970 to 1972. It would also be most interesting to reestimated the model for periods characterized by unutilized resources to determine if in these periods the neutrality of money is maintained. Also in the interest of determining monetary neutrality, a short term cyclical analysis might also be attempted. It has not escaped our notice, that a refined version of this model might be used to separate the income and price effects of monetary changes.

V. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ackley, Gardner. Administered Prices and the Inflationary Process. American Economic Review 49: 419-30. May, 1959.
- Arrow, Kenneth. Toward a Theory of Price Adjustment. In M. Abramovitz et al. The Allocation of Economic Resources. Pp. 41-51. Stanford University Press, Stanford, California. 1959.
- 3. Ascheim, Joseph. Techniques of Monetary Control. Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore, Maryland. 1961.
- 4. Barro, R. J. and Grossman, R. A General Disequilibrium Model of Income and Employment. American Economic Review 61: 82-93. March, 1971.
- 5. Behman, Sara. Increasing Labor Demand, and the Money Wage-Rate Increases in U.S. Manufacturing. Review of Economic Studies 31: 253-66. October, 1959.
- 6. Behman, Sara. Wage Changes, Institutions, and Relative Factor Prices in Manufacturing. Review of Economics and Statistics 51: 227-238. August, 1969.
- Behman, Sara. Wage-Determination Process in U.S. Manufacturing. Quarterly Journal of Economics 82: 117-142. February, 1968.
- 8. Berry, R. A. and Bowen, W. G. Unemployment Conditions and Movements in the Money Wage Level. Review of Economics and Statistics 45: 163-72. May, 1963.
- Blair, John M. Administered Prices: A Phenomenon in Search of a Theory. American Economic Review 49: 431-50. May, 1959.
- Brainard, W. C. and Tobin, J. Econometric Models: Their Problems and Usefulness, Pitfalls in Financial Model Building. American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings 58: 99-122. May, 1968.
- Brechling, Frank. The Trade-Off between Inflation and Unemployment. Journal of Political Economy 76: 712-37. July/August, 1968.

- Bronfenbrenner, M. and Holzman, F. D. Survey of Inflation Theory. American Economic Review 53: 593-661. September, 1963.
- 13. Brunner, K. A Scheme for the Supply Theory of Money. International Economic Review 2: 79-109. January, 1961.
- 14. Brunner, K. and Meltzer, A. H. The Meaning of Monetary Indicators. In George Horwick, ed. Monetary Process and Policy: A Symposium. Pp. 171-189. Richard D. Irwin, Homewood, Illinois. 1963.
- Campbell, Colin D. Investments in United States Government Securities by Nonfinancial Corporations 1952-1956: Comment. Quarterly Journal of Economics 72: 292-97. May, 1958.
- 16. Carson, Deane. Money and Finance, Readings in Theory, Policy, and Institutions. John Wiley & Sons, New York. 1966.
- 17. Cartter, A. M. Theory of Wages and Employment. Richard D. Irwin, Homewood, Illinois. 1959.
- Chow, Gregory. On the Long-Run and Short-Run Demand for Money. Journal of Political Economy 74: 111-131. April, 1966.
- 19. Christ, C. F. Econometric Models of the Financial Sector. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 3: 419-449. May, 1971.
- 20. Christ, C. F. Econometric Models and Methods. Wiley & Sons, New York. 1966.
- 21. Christ, C. F. A Simple Macroeconomic Model with a Government Budget Restraint. Journal of Political Economy 76: 53-67. Jan./Feb., 1968.
- 22. Christian, James W. Bargaining Functions and the Effectiveness of the Wage-Price Grideposts. Southern Economic Journal 37: 51-65. July, 1970.
- 23. Christian, James W. A Further Analysis of the Objectives of American Monetary Policy. Journal of Finance 23: 465-77. June, 1968.
- 24. Christian, James W. A Medium-Term Policy Model of the Economy of Peru. Iowa State University, Department of Economics, Working Paper #5. May 1, 1972.

- 25. Cooper, J. P. and Fischer, S. Simulations of Monetary Rules in the FRB-MIT-Penn Model. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 4: 384-396. May, 1972.
- 26. Courchene, Thomas J. An Analysis of the Price-Inventory Nexus with Empirical Application to the Canadian Manufacturing Sector. International Economic Review 10: 315-36. October, 1969.
- 27. DeLeeuw, E. and Gramlich, F. The Federal Reserve-MIT Econometric Model. Federal Reserve Bulletin 1968: 11-40. January, 1968.
- 28. Dewald, W. G. Free Reserves, Total Reserves, and Monetary Control. Journal of Political Economy 71: 141-53. April, 1963.
- 29. Dewald, W. G. and Johnson, H. G. An Objective Analysis of the Objectives of Monetary Policy, 1952-1961. In Deane Carson, ed., Banking and Monetary Studies. Pp. 171-189. Richard D. Irwin, Homewood, Illinois. 1963.
- 30. Dickson, H. D. and Starleaf, D. R. Polynomial Distributed Lag Structures in the Demand Function for Money. Mimeographed paper. Department of Economics, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. 1972.
- Dorfman, R. An Economic Interpretation of Optimal Control Theory. American Economic Review 59: 817-831. December, 1969.
- 32. Dutton, Dean S. The Demand for Money and the Expected Rate of Price Change, A Comment. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 3: 861-866. November, 1971.
- 33. Dutton, Dean S. A Model of Self-Generating Inflation. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 3: 245-262. May, 1971.
- 34. Eagly, Robert V. Market Power as an Intervening Mechanism in Phillips Curve Analysis. Economica 32: 48-64. February, 1965.
- 35. Eckstein, Otto. Money Wage Determination Revisited. Review of Economic Studies 35: 133-144. April, 1968.
- 36. Eckstein, Otto. A Theory of Wage-Price Process in Modern Industry. Review of Economic Studies 31: 267-286. October, 1964.

- 37. Eckstein, Otto and Fromm, Gary. The Price Equation. American Economic Review 58: 1159-83. December, 1968.
- 38. Eckstein, Otto and Wilson, T. A. The Determinants of Money Wages in American Industry. Quarterly Journal of Economics 76: 379-414. August, 1962.
- 39. Fand, David I. A Monetary Interpretation of the Post-1965 Inflation in the U.S. Banca Nazionale del Lavoro Quarterly Review 89: 3-31. June, 1969.
- 40. Fand, David I. The Monetary Theory of Nine Recent Quarterly Econometric Models of the United States, Comment. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 3: 450-460. May, 1971.
- 41. Fand, David I. Money, Interest and Prices. In Donald Jacobs, ed., Savings and Residential Financing - 1970 Conference Proceedings. Pp. 46-72. U.S. Savings and Loan League, Washington, D.C. 1970.
- 42. Ferguson, C. E. and Moroney, J. R. The Source of Change in Labor's Relative Share: A Neoclassical Analysis. Southern Economic Journal 35: 308-322. April, 1969.
- Foley, D. K. and Sidrauski, M. Portfolio Choice, Investment and Growth. American Economic Review 60: 44-63. March, 1970.
- 44. Foley, D. K., Shell, K., and Sidrauski, M. Optimal Fiscal, and Monetary Policy and Economic Growth. Journal of Political Economy 77: 698-719. July/August, 1969.
- 45. Friedman, Milton. Changes in Prices and Changes in Output. In Deane Carson, ed., Money and Finance; Readings in Theory, Policy, and Institutions. Pp. 145-154. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 1966.
- 46. Friedman, Milton. The Demand for Money: Some Theoretical and Empirical Results. Journal of Political Economy 67: 327-351. August, 1959.
- 47. Friedman, Milton. Factors Affecting the Level of Interest Rates. In Deane Carson, ed. Money and Finance, Readings in Theory. Policy and Institutions. 2nd edition. Pp. 319-331. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 1972.
- 48. Friedman, Milton. The Optimum Quantity of Money. In The Optimum Quantity of Money and Other Essays. Pp. 1-50. Aldine Publishing Co., Chicago, Illinois. 1969.
- 49. Friedman, Milton. The Quantity Theory of Money, A Restatement. In Studies in the Quantity Theory of Money. Pp. 3-21. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois. 1956.
- 50. Friedman, Milton. The Supply of Money and The Price Level. In Deane Carson, ed., Money and Finance; Readings in Theory, Policy, and Institutions. Pp. 145-154. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 1966.
- 51. Goldfield, Stephen M. Commercial Bank Behavior and Economic Activity: A Structural Study of Monetary Policy in Post War United States. North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, Netherlands. 1966.
- 52. Goodhart, C. A. E. and Crockett, A. D. The Importance of Money. Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. Pp. 159-198. June, 1970.
- 53. Gramlich, E. M. Comments on the Discussion of the Carl Christ Paper. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 3: 464-468. May, 1971.
- 54. Guttentag, Jack. Credit Availability, Interest Rates, and Monetary Policy. Southern Economic Journal 26: 219-228. January, 1960.
- 55. Hamburger, M. J. The Demand for Money by Households, Money Substitutes, and Monetary Policy. Journal of Political Economy 74: 600-623. December, 1966.
- 56. Hamermesh, Daniel S. Wage Bargains, Threshold Effects, and the Phillips Curve. Quarterly Journal of Economics 84: 501-517. August, 1970.
- 57. Heller, H. R. The Demand for Money: The Evidence from the Short Run Data. Quarterly Journal of Economics 79: 291-303. May, 1965.
- 58. Holt, Charles C. How Can the Phillips Curve be Moved to Reduce Both Inflation and Unemployment. Mimeographed Working Paper P-68-1. The Urban Institute, Washington, D.C. 1969.

- 59. Holt, Charles C. Improving the Labor Market Tradeoff between Inflation and Unemployment. Working Paper P-69-1. Urban Institute, Washington, D.C. February, 1969.
- 60. Johnson, Harry G. The Neo-Classical One Sector Growth Model, A Geometrical Exposition and Extension to a Monetary Economy. In Essays in Monetary Economics. Allen & Unwin, London, England. 1967.
- 61. Johnston, J. Econometric Methods. McGraw Hill Book Co., Inc., New York. 1963.
- 62. Jones, Lamar B. and Christian, J. W. Some Observations on the Agricultural Labor Market. Industrial and Labor Relations Review 18: 522-534. July, 1965.
- 63. Kareken, John H. Lenders' Preferences, Credit Rationing, and the Effectiveness of Monetary Policy. Review of Economics and Statistics 39: 292-302. August, 1957.
- 64. Klein, L. R. and Ball, R. J. Some Econometrics of the Determination of Absolute Prices and Wages. Economic Journal 69: 465-482. September, 1959.
- 65. Koyck, L. M. Distributed Lags and Investment Analysis. North Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, Netherlands. 1954.
- 66. Kuh, E. Cyclical and Secular Labor Productivity in U.S. Manufacturing. Review of Economics and Statistics 47: 1-12. February, 1965.
- 67. Kuh, E. A Productivity Theory of Wage Levels An Alternative to the Phillips Curve. Review of Economic Studies 34: 333-361. October, 1967.
- 68. Kuh, E. Unemployment, Production Function and Effective Demand. Journal of Political Economy 74: 238-249. March/April, 1966.
- 69. Laidler, David. The Demand for Money: Theories and Evidence. International Textbook Co., Scranton, Penn. 1969.
- 70. Laidler, David. The Rate of Interest and the Demand for Money - Some Empirical Evidence. Journal of Political Economy 74: 543-555. December, 1966.

- 71. Laidler, David. Some Evidence on the Demand for Money. Journal of Political Economy 74: 55-58. February, 1966.
- 72. Lipsey, R. G. The Relation Between Unemployment and the Rate of Change of the Money Wage Rates in the U.K. 1862-1957: A Further Analysis. Economica 27: 1-31. February, 1960.
- 73. Lipsey, R. G. and Parkin, J. M. Incomes Policy: A Re-appraisal. Economica 37: 115-138. May, 1970.
- 74. Lipsey, R. G. and Steuer, M. D. The Relation Between Profits and Wage Rates. Economica 28: 137-155. May, 1961.
- 75. Liu, Ta Chung. An Exploratory Quarterly Econometric Model of Effective Demand in Postwar U.S. Economy. Econometrica 31: 301-348. July, 1963.
- 76. Machlup, Fritz. Another View of Cost-Push Demand-Pull Inflation. Review of Economics and Statistics 42: 125-139. May, 1960.
- 77. Marty, Alvin L. The Optimal Rate of Growth of Money. Journal of Political Economy 76: 860-873. July/August, 1968.
- 78. Meigs, A. J. Free Reserves and the Money Supply. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois. 1962.
- 79. Modigliani, Franco. The Monetary Mechanism and Its Interaction with Real Phenomena. Review of Economics and Statistics, Supplement 45: 80-107. February, 1963.
- 80. Morley, Samuel A. The Economics of Inflation. The Dryden Press, Inc., Hinsdale, Illinois. 1971.
- 81. Nadiri, M. Ishaq. Some Approaches to the Theory and Measurement of Total Factor Productivity: A Survey. Journal of Economic Literature 8: 1137-1177. December, 1970.
- 82. Nerlove, Marc. Estimation and Identification of Cobb-Douglas Production Functions. Rand, McNally Publishing Co., Chicago, Illinois. 1965.
- 83. Nerlove, Marc. Notes on the Production and Derived Demand Relations Included in Macro-Econometric Models. International Economic Review 8: 223-242. June, 1967.

- 84, Parkin, J. M. Incomes Policy: Some Further Results on the Determination of Money Wages. Economica 37: 386-401. August, 1970.
- 85. Patinkin, Don. Money, Interest and Prices. 2nd edition. Harper and Row, New York. 1965.
- 86. Perry, G. L. The Determinants of Wage Rate Changes and the Inflation-Unemployment Trade-Off for the United States. Review of Economic Studies 31: 287-308. October, 1964.
- 87. Peterson, D. W., Lerner, E. M. and Lusk, E. J. The Response of Prices and Income to Monetary Policy: An Analysis Based upon a Differential Phillips Curve. Journal of Political Economy 79: 857-866. July, 1971.
- 88. Phelps, Edmund S. Money-Wage Dynamics and Labor Market Equilibrium. Journal of Political Economy 76: 678-711. July, 1968.
- 89. Phillips, A. W. The Relation Between Unemployment and the Rate of Change of Money Wage Rates in the U.K., 1861-1957. Economica 25: 283-299. November, 1958.
- 90. Reder, M. W. Wage Structure and Structural Unemployment. Review of Economic Studies 31: 309-322. October, 1964.
- 91. Rees, Albert. Wage Determination and Involuntary Unemployment. Journal of Political Economy 59: 143-153. April, 1951.
- 92. Rees, Albert and Hamilton, Mary. Wage-Price-Productivity Perplex. Journal of Political Economy 75: 63-70. February, 1967.
- 93. Reuber, G. L. The Objectives of Canadian Monetary Policy, 1949-1961: Empirical Trade-Offs and the Reaction Function of the Authorities. Journal of Political Economy 72: 109-132. April, 1964.
- 94. Samuelson, P. A. and Solow, R. M. Analytical Aspects of Anti-Inflationary Policy. American Economic Review Supplement 50: 177-194. May, 1960.
- 95. Saving, T. R. Monetary Policy Target and Indicators. Journal of Political Economy Supplement 75: 446-458. August, 1967.

- 96. Schultze, C. L. Uses of Capacity Measures for the Short Run Economic Analysis. American Economic Review 53: 298-308. May, 1960.
- 97. Scott, Ira O. The Availability Doctrine: Development and Implications. Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science 23: 532-539. November, 1957.
- 98. Scott, Ira O. The Availability Doctrine: Theoretical Underpinnings. Review of Economic Studies 25: 41-48. October, 1957.
- 99. Sidrauski, Miguel. Inflation and Economic Growth. Journal of Political Economy 75: 796-810. December, 1967.
- 100. Sidrauski, Miguel. Rational Choice and Patterns of Growth in a Monetary Economy. Journal of Political Economy 77: 575-585. July/August, 1967.
- 101. Silber, William L. Portfolio Behavior of Financial Institutions. Holt, Rinehart, Winston, Inc., New York. 1970.
- 102. Simler, N. J. and Tella, Alfred. Labor Reserves and the Phillips Curve. Review of Economics and Statistics 51: 32-49. February, 1968.
- 103. Solow, R. M. A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth. Quarterly Journal of Economics 70: 65-94. February, 1956.
- 104. Solow, R. M. Technical Change and the Aggregate Production Function. Review of Economics and Statistics 39: 312-320. August, 1957.
- 105. Solow, R. M. and Stiglitz, J. E. Output, Employment and Wages in the Short Run. Quarterly Journal of Economics 82: 537-560. November, 1968.
- 106. Starleaf, Dennis. The Specification of Money Demand-Supply Models Which Involve the Use of Distributed Lags. Journal of Finance 25: 743-760. September, 1970.
- 107. Starleaf, Dennis R. and Stephenson, James A. A Suggested Solution to the Monetary-Policy Indicator Problem: The Monetary Full Employment Interest Rate. Journal of Finance 24: 623-641. September, 1969.

- 108. Stein, Jerome L. Monetary Growth Theory in Perspective. American Economic Review 60: 85-106. March, 1970.
- 109. Strand, R. and Dernberg, T. A. Cyclical Variations in Civilian Labor Force Participation. Review of Economics and Statistics 46: 378-391. November, 1964.
- 110. Tobin, James. Money and Economic Growth. Econometrica 33: 671-684. October, 1965.
- 111. Tobin, James. Notes on Optimal Monetary Growth. Journal of Political Economy 76: 833-859. July/ August, 1968.
- 112. Tucker, Donald P. Dynamic Income Adjustment to Money Supply Changes. American Economic Review 56: 433-449. June, 1966.
- 113. Valavanis, S. An Econometric Model of Growth: U.S.A., 1949-1953. American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings 45: 208-221. May, 1955.
- 114. Wallis, Kenneth. Some Recent Developments in Applied Econometrics. Journal of Economic Literature 7: 771-796. September, 1969.
- 115. Wallis, Kenneth. Wages, Prices, and Income Policies: Some Comments. Economica 38: 304-310. August, 1971.
- 116. Walters, A. A. Production and Cost Functions: An Econometric Survey. Econometrica 31: 1-66. Jan/ April, 1963.
- 117. Weintraub, Sidney. A Macroeconomic Approach to the Theory of Wages. American Economic Review 46: 835-856. December, 1956.
- 118. Wilson, Thomas A. and Eckstein, Otto. Short-Run Productivity Behavior in U.S. Manufacturing. Review of Economics and Statistics 46: 41-53. February, 1964.
- 119. Yorden, Wesley J. Industrial Concentration and Price Flexibility in Inflation; Price-Response Rates in 14 Industries, 1947-58. Review of Economics and Statistics 43: 287-294. August, 1961.
- 120. Zarnowitz, E. Unfilled Orders, Price Changes, and Business Fluctuations. Review of Economics and Statistics 44: 367-394. November, 1962.

121. Zecher, R. A Comment on Carl Christ's Paper. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 3: 461-463. May, 1971.

.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my major professor, Jim Christian. Without his help, encouragement, and creative solutions to critical problems, this dissertation would never have been possible. I would also like to thank Dr. James Stephenson for his timely suggestions about the production function, and its logical role in the development of the rest of the supply sector. I also appreciate the suggestions of Dr. Dennis Starleaf and Dr. Dudley Luckett on the monetary aspects of the model. And I would like to thank the members of my committee, Dr. Starleaf, Dr. Davey, Dr. Huntress, and Dr. Fuller.

I would also like to express my appreciation for the three year NDEA Fellowship and the one year NSF Fellowship I was awarded. These Fellowships financed my graduate studies for the four years I attended Iowa State.

And thanks too, to Shu Huang and Charlotte Latta for cheerful computational assistance in the estimation of the model, and to Ray Michaelski for computer advice.

Finally, thank you to my husband, Ed Rieder, whose continued encouragement and cooperation was essential.

VII. APPENDIX A

The data to estimate this model are drawn from several sources. The primary source of data was Data Resources Incorporated (DRI). The price level, P, is the GNP deflator and its retrieval code from DRI is PGNP. Velocity is computed as the ratio of Gross National Product to the money supply. The retrieval code for Gross National Product is GNP. Money supply is defined as currency plus demand deposits. Its retrieval code is MONEY1. This is a monthly series on DRI, and was made quarterly using averages. Real output, Y, is measured as Gross National Product in constant dollars. Its retrieval code is GNP58. The price level lagged one quarter, P_{t-1} , is the GNP deflator lagged one quarter. The wage bill, W, is measured as total compensation to employees. Its retrieval code is WSS. Employment, E, is the number of men and women employed. Its retrieval code is EHH.

A second source of data is that used to estimate the FRB-MIT-Penn quarterly macroeconomic model of the United States economy. Our series for capital, K, is drawn from these data. To get an aggregate measure for capital, we summed the series for capital in producer's structures, 18; capital in producer durables, 30; capital owned by state and local governments, 102; the capital measure of single family

dwellings, #294; and the capital measure of multiple family dwellings, #296. The measure for the level of technology is proxied by an output per man-hour variable. The data to compute this proxy also comes from the FRB-MIT-Penn model. The series for real output, #3, was first adjusted from an annual rate to a quarterly rate. Then this adjusted series for output was divided by the series for the average number of hours worked per man per quarter, #142 times the series on the number of persons employed, #147.

A third source of data is needed to estimate population, N. The data on population between the ages of 14 and 64 were obtained from the Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Current Population Reports, Series P-25, 1970. Census figures are annual, and reported as of April first each year. To make this series quarterly, a linear growth path of population was assumed, and the values calculated with the following formula:

 $x_{ij} = x_{ij-1} + 1/4(x_i - x_{i-1})$

where i is the index for the year and takes the values of 1951, 52, ... 70, and where j is the quarter index and takes the values 2, 3, and 4. When j = 1, X_{ij} is the reported value in the year it represents.

Annual figures on the size of the labor force were obtained from the Federal Reserve Bulletin.

VIII. APPENDIX B

The full wage equation estimated for the first thirtysix quarters is as follows:

 $\ln W_{t} = 3.046 + .7691 \ln Y_{t} + .9988 \ln P_{t} + .4880 \ln N_{t}$ $(1.338) (6.4168) + .3985 \ln E_{t}$ $(2.188) = \overline{R}^{2} = .999$ DW = 1.8660 $\rho = .63$

IX. APPENDIX C

To incorporate expectations into the wage equation, we begin with the wage Equation (5p), and modify it by replacing ln P, by ln P**, which makes wages a function of expected prices, rather than actual prices:

(5t)
$$\ln W = \frac{1}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln \rho_2 + \frac{1}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln Y_t$$

+ $\ln P^{**} - \frac{\{\gamma_2 + \gamma_3 \vee (1 - \sigma)\}}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln N_{t+1} - \frac{\gamma_3 \sigma}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln E_t$

We next define:

(5u)
$$\ln P_{t}^{**} = \lambda \ln P_{t} + (1-\lambda) \ln P_{t-1}^{**}$$

where ln P** is seen as price expectations formulated as a decaying weighted average of past price levels which is condensed into the above expression by the application of the Koyck transformation on the decaying weighted average. This is, of course, a naive and only first approximation to price expectations for the wage equation. This formulation implicitly assumes in the coefficient of λ that the expectations of the suppliers and demanders of labor are identical. Further work, both theoretical and empirical are needed to build expectations properly into the wage equation. However as a first approximation, we built in expectations using the previously discussed simplifications as follows:

(5t)
$$\ln W_{t} = \frac{1}{\phi_{1} + \gamma_{1}} \ln \rho_{2} + \frac{1}{\phi_{1} + \gamma_{1}} \ln Y_{t}$$

+ $\ln P_{t}^{**} - \frac{\{\gamma_{2} + \gamma_{3} \vee (1 - \sigma)\}}{\phi_{1} + \gamma_{1}} \ln N_{t} + [1 - \frac{\gamma_{3} \sigma}{\phi_{1} + \gamma_{1}}] \ln E_{t}$

where:

(5u)
$$\ln P_{t}^{**} = \lambda \ln P_{t} + (1-\lambda) \ln P_{t-1}^{**}$$

Then lagging wages by one period:

(5v)
$$\ln W_{t-1} = \frac{1}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln \rho_2 + \frac{1}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln Y_{t-1}$$

+ $\ln P_{t-1}^{**} - \frac{\{\gamma_2 + \gamma_3 \vee (1 - \sigma)\}}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln N_{t-1}$
+ $[1 - \frac{\gamma_3 \sigma}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1}] \ln E_t$

and solving for $\ln P_{t-1}^{**}$:

(5w)
$$\ln P_{t-1}^{\star \star} = \ln W_{t-1} - \frac{1}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln \rho_2 - \frac{1}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln Y_{t-1} + \frac{\{\gamma_2 + \gamma_3 \nu (1 - \sigma)\}}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1} \ln N_{t-1} - [1 - \frac{\gamma_3 \sigma}{\phi_1 + \gamma_1}] \ln E_{t-1}$$

and subbing this into (5u):

(5x)
$$\ln P_{t}^{\star \star} = \lambda \ln P_{t} + (1-\lambda) \ln W_{t-1} - \frac{(1-\lambda)}{\phi_{1}+\gamma_{1}} \ln \rho_{2}$$

 $- \frac{(1-\lambda)}{\phi_{1}+\gamma_{1}} \ln Y_{t-1} + \frac{\{\gamma_{2}+\gamma_{3} \vee (1-\sigma)\}}{\phi_{1}+\gamma_{1}} (1-\gamma) \ln N_{t-1}$
 $+ (1-\gamma) [1 - \frac{\gamma_{3}\sigma}{\phi_{1}+\gamma_{1}}] \ln E_{t-1}$

and finally subbing this into (5t), the wage equation with expectations is derived:

(5y)
$$\ln W_{t} = \frac{\lambda}{\phi_{1}^{+}\gamma_{1}} \ln \rho_{2} + \frac{1}{\phi_{1}^{+}\gamma_{1}} \ln Y_{t} + \lambda \ln P_{t}$$
$$- \frac{\gamma_{2}^{+}\gamma_{3}\nu(1-\sigma)}{\phi_{1}^{+}\gamma_{1}} \ln N_{t}^{+} \left[1 - \frac{\gamma_{3}\sigma}{\phi_{1}^{+}\gamma_{1}}\right] \ln E_{t}$$
$$+ (1-\lambda) \ln W_{t-1} - \frac{(1-\lambda)}{\phi_{1}^{+}\gamma_{1}} \ln Y_{t-1}$$
$$+ (1-\lambda) \frac{\{\gamma_{2}^{+}\gamma_{3}\nu(1-\sigma)\}}{\phi_{1}^{+}\gamma_{1}} \ln N_{t-1}$$
$$- (1-\lambda) \left[1 - \frac{\gamma_{3}\sigma}{\phi_{1}^{+}\gamma_{1}}\right] \ln E_{t-1}$$
$$\ln W_{t} = .7141 + .7238 \ln Y_{t} + .5618 \ln P_{t} + .2145 \ln E_{t}$$
$$\ln W_{t} = .7141 + .7238 \ln Y_{t} + .5618 \ln P_{t} + .2145 \ln E_{t}$$

$$- .8565 \ln N_{t} - .3274 \ln Y_{t-1} + .1895 \ln E_{t-1}$$

$$(1.98) t - .3274 \ln Y_{t-1} + .1895 \ln E_{t-1}$$

$$+ .5914 \ln N_{t-1} + .532 \ln W_{t-1}$$

$$(1.33) \overline{R}^{2} = .999 \quad DW = 1.9$$

$$\rho = .97$$

X. APPENDIX D

The table used to present the trade-offs in changes in the money supply to hold an endogenous variable constant, given a unit change in an exogenous variable, was computed in the following manner. Each coefficient in the table represents the negative of the ratio of reduced form coefficients, $-R_b/R_a$. R_b is the reduced form coefficient of the exogenous variable experiencing the unit change in the reduced form equation of the relevant endogenous variable whose constancy is required. R_a is the reduced form coefficient of the money supply in the reduced form equation of the relevant endogenous variable whose constancy is required.

For example, if we wish to compute the compensating change in the money supply required to keep prices constant given a unit change in productivity, we take the coefficient of productivity in the reduced form price equation, -.0745, as R_b . This is divided by the reduced form coefficient of the money supply in the price equation, .2420, or R_a . The negative of this ratio is then the first element in Table 4. The remaining elements are computed in a similar manner.